
 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP BOARD 
7275 West Main Street 
Kalamazoo, MI 49009 

May 28, 2024 

Refer to page 3 for Virtual Meeting Information 

REGULAR MEETING 
5:30 P.M. 
AGENDA 

1. Call to Order

2. Remote Location Identification (for remote attendance when permitted by statute)

3. Pledge of Allegiance

4. Township Mission/Vision/Core Values

• Core Value: Ensure that taxpayer investments are spent wisely, effectively and

efficiently.

5. Public Comment on Non-Regular Session Items

6. Public Officials Updates

7. Consent Agenda

a. Meeting Minutes [Minutes of Regular Meeting May 14, 2024]

b. Extension of Approval for Hampton Cove PUD conditional rezoning

c. Budget Amendments

8. Recognition of Township Service: Rick Suwarsky, Ordinance Enforcement (12 Years)

9. Recognition of Oshtemo Township Fire Department 80th Anniversary

10. Consideration of Issuance of Industrial Facilities Tax Exemption Certificate for Faraday

Defense Corporation and Faraday Properties LLC

11. Resolution 2nd St Special Assessment District Set Roll

12. Discussion of New Housing Ordinance

13. Public Comment

14. Board Member Comments & Committee Updates

15. Other Updates & Business

16. Adjournment

1

https://www.oshtemo.org/files/assets/public/v/1/boards-and-committees/township-board/minutes/05142024-meeting-minutes.pdf


Oshtemo Township Board of Trustees 

Supervisor 

Cheri Bell 
Clerk 

Dusty Farmer 

Treasurer 

Clare Buszka 

Trustees 

Kristin Cole 

Zak Ford 

Michael Chapman

216-5220 cbell@oshtemo.org

216-5224 dfarmer@oshtemo.org 

216-5260 cbuszka@oshtemo.org 

760-6769
375-4260

271-5513

Township Department Information 

Assessor: 

Kristine Biddle 

Fire Chief: 

Greg McComb 

Ordinance Enforcement: 

Rod Rought
Parks Director: 

Vanessa Street
Rental Info 

Planning Director: 

Jodi Stefforia
Public Works Director: 

Anna Horner 

216-5225 assessor@oshtemo.org 

375-0487 gmccomb@oshtemo.org 

216-5222 rrought@oshtemo.org

216-5233 
216-5224 

vstreet@oshtemo.org 
oshtemo@oshtemo.org 

jstefforia@oshtemo.org

216-5228 ahorner@oshtemo.org 

Policy for Public Comment 
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings 

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting: 

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda Items or Public Comment – while this is not intended to be a forum for

dialogue and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may

be delegated to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated

questions can be answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email

(oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited. At the close of
public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include questions
are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further research,
and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board deliberation
which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual 
capabilities of the meeting room. Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required. 

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on 
which the public hearing is being conducted. Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be 
directed to any issue. 

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in 
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting. 

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to the orderly 
conduct of business. The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which 
does not follow these guidelines. 

(adopted 5/9/2000) 
(revised 5/14/2013) 
(revised 1/8/2018) 

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone calls, 
stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from Monday- 
Thursday, 8 a.m.-1 p.m. and 2-5 p.m., and on Friday, 8 a.m.–1 p.m. Additionally, questions and concerns are 
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and 
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to 
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person. 

Neil Sikora

375-4260

nsikora@oshtemo.org

kcole@oshtemo.org 

zford@oshtemo.org 

mchapman@oshtemo.org

375-4260

2

mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbuszka@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbell@oshtemo.org
mailto:kcole@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:kbradford@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:gmccomb@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:ilubbert@oshtemo.org
mailto:ahorner@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org


Zoom Instructions for Participants 

Before a videoconference: 

1. You will need a computer, tablet, or smartphone with a speaker or headphones. You will have
the opportunity to check your audio immediately upon joining a meeting.

2. If you are going to make a public comment, please use a microphone or headphones with a
microphone to cut down on feedback, if possible.

3. Details, phone numbers, and links to videoconference or conference call are provided below.
The details include a link to “Join via computer” as well as phone numbers for a conference call
option. It will also include the 11-digit Meeting ID.

To join the videoconference: 

1. At the start time of the meeting, click on this link to join via computer. You may be instructed
to download the Zoom application.

2. You have an opportunity to test your audio at this point by clicking on “Test Computer Audio.”
Once you are satisfied that your audio works, click on “Join audio by computer.”

You may also join a meeting without the link by going to join.zoom.us on any browser and entering this 
Meeting ID: 818 2435 4562

If you are having trouble hearing the meeting or do not have the ability to join using a computer, tablet, or 
smartphone then you can join via conference call by following instructions below. 

To join the conference by phone: 
1. On your phone, dial the teleconferencing number: 1-929-205-6099
2. When prompted using your touchtone (DTMF) keypad, enter the Meeting ID

number: 818 2435 4562#

Participant controls in the lower-left corner of the Zoom screen: 

Using the icons at the bottom of the Zoom screen, you can (some features will be locked to participants during 
the meeting): 

• Participants – opens a pop-out screen that includes a “Raise Hand” icon that you may use to
raise a virtual hand. This will be used to indicate that you want to make a public comment.

• Chat – opens pop-up screen that allows participants to post comments during the
meeting.

If you are attending the meeting by phone, to use the “Raise Hand” feature press *9 on your 
touchtone keypad. 

Public comments will be handled by the “Raise Hand” method as instructed above within Participant Controls. 

Closed Caption: 

 Turn on Closed Caption: 
Using the icons at the bottom of the Zoom screen: 

1. Click on the “Live Transcription” button.
2. Then select “Show Subtitle”.

3

https://join.zoom.us/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81824354562


Mission: 

To advance the quality of life of all residents through a commitment to responsible growth, and 

value-driven municipal services that promote the relationships among economic vitality, 

environmental stewardship, and social equity. 

Vision:

A sustainable and innovative community built through a legacy of planned, responsible growth 

and rural preservation. 

Core Values:

PUBLIC SERVICE 

• Fair treatment to all people.

• Each customer is welcomed and that their input is wanted.

• Difficult questions are not marginalized.

• Allow residents to interact directly with the township staff and officials.

• Decisions are made based on the value to our Township and residents.

SUSTAINABILITY 

• Meet the needs of the present without compromising future generations.

o Consider the environment through practices that reduce impacts.

o Value conscious decision making.

o Committing to quality Fire and Police protection.

INNOVATION 

• Providing the best value-conscious technology currently available.

• Leverage new technologies and ways of doing business to increase accessibility and
improve services. 

PROFESSIONALISM 

• Hire staff with strong core competencies within their given profession.

• Commitment to continuous improvement to government operations.

• Dedicated to open communication to improve productivity and effectiveness.

INTEGRITY 

• Decisions are made logically through the collection of evidence, facts, and public input.

• When promises are made, we follow through.

• We do not obfuscate – we say what we mean and do what we say.

• Transparent governmental practices are of the highest priority.

FISCAL STEWARDSHIP 

• Ensure that taxpayer investments are spent wisely, effectively and efficiently.

4



 

7275 W. Main Street, Kalamazoo, MI  49009, (269) 216-5220, Fax (269) 375-7180, www.oshtemo.org 

 

 

Memorandum 

Date: May 22, 2024  

To: Oshtemo Township Board 

From: Colten Hutson, Zoning Administrator 

Subject: Extension of Approval for Conditional Rezoning   

 
Objective: 
One (1) year extension of approval for the conditional rezoning of parcel number 05-14-130-017 and 
a portion of 6660 W Main Street, parcel number 05-14-185-023 from R-2: Residence District to R-4: 
Residence District. 
 
Background: 
On April 25, 2023, the Oshtemo Township Board approved the request by Marroll, LLC to conditionally 
rezone parcels referenced above   from the R-2: Residence District to the R-4: Residence District. Since 
that time, the applicant has received approval of a conceptual plan for a residential planned unit 
development (PUD) for 15 four-plex buildings and a senior housing complex. The applicant, however, 
could not move forward with the second step of the Township’s PUD process due to the private road 
moratorium. As the project includes private roads, the applicant was required to wait until the Oshtemo 
Township Board formally adopted the new Transportation and Mobility Ordinance. The moratorium was 
in place for approximately seven months, meaning the designs for the applicant’s project were on hold 
for said period of time. With the expiration of approval for the conditional rezoning approaching, the 
applicant would like to exercise the option to extend their validity of approval by one (1) year for their 
conditional rezoning per Section 66.50 of the Zoning Ordinance.  
 

5



 

Memorandum & Request 
Date: May 23, 2024 

To: Township Board 

From: Anna Horner, P.E., Public Works Director 

Subject: Budget Amendment: 7th St and W Main Sanitary Sewer Project   

 
Objective 
Approval of Budget Amendment for the 7th St and W Main Sanitary Sewer Project. 
 
From GL: 485-000-40000   Sewer Carryover 
To GL: 485-536-96400.WM7TO8  Construction Costs 
 
Proposed Motion  
I move to approve the Budget Amendment for the 7th St and W Main Sanitary Sewer Project in the 
amount of $70,200.  
 
Background 
In July 2023, the Board approved a construction contract with Lounsbury Excavating for the 7th St and 
W Main St Sanitary Sewer Project. The contract amount was $2,694,325.50. In February 2024 the 
Board approved a budget amendment for construction contingency in the amount of $135,000 or 
approximately 5% of the contract.   
 
Lounsbury contract complete: 53% based on Pay Application #7 5/1/24 
Contingency remaining: 40% 
 
At the time of the contingency approval, staff referenced the item of unsuitable soils in 7th St that did 
not meet the specifications for backfill material under a roadway because of the clay content. At that 
time, from vertical exploration at a few locations, it was estimated that there was a layer of 5’-7’ of dense 
clay in portions of the road. As construction has progressed, this material has been much thicker and 
more frequent.  
 
Soil borings were completed in the design phase (2016). Interpretation of some of the soil borings would 
have indicated to the Contractor that existing material could be reused as acceptable material meeting 
the specifications for at least 2/3s of the limits. As shown in the picture below, the trench side walls are 
intact and rigid following the trench box moving which is indicative of a material lacking sand.  
 
Since the unsuitable soils are a change in condition, staff is requesting a specific budget amendment 
to this item. Based on the work completed to date, extrapolating from the soil borings, and a meeting 
with Lounsbury, 3,750 cubic yards is the agreed upon maximum the Township will be responsible for 
based on the soils being significantly different than the bidding information. Actual quantities will be 
based on field measurements. This is roughly 1/3 of all trench backfill material.  
 

6



 
 

 
Core Values 
Sustainability, Professionalism, Integrity, Fiscal Stewardship  

7



 

Memorandum 
Date: 28 May 2024 

To: Township Board 

From: Sara Feister, Human Resources Director 
 

  Subject:         Employee Apparel Program Store Fee Budget Amendment Request 
   

 

 
Objective 
Requesting Board approval of a $200.00 budget amendment to pay the 5.00% store fee to host the 2024 Spring/Summer 
Employee Apparel Program.  
 
 From:  GL# 101-000-40000  Carryover 
 To:   GL# TBD   Employee Apparel 
 
Proposed Motion 
“Motion to approve a $200.00 budget amendment to pay the 5.00% store fee to host the 2024 Spring/Summer Employee 
Apparel Program.” 
 
Additional Information 
HR has worked with Spirit Shoppe in the past to set up an online storefront for employees to purchase Oshtemo 
Charter Township apparel. The holiday apparel program was very successful, and HR has had many requests from 
employees to purchase additional items. Therefore, HR worked with Spirit Shoppe to update the storefront to offer 
additional items. This Spring/Summer program will be employee paid, however, there is a 5.00% store fee that Spirit 
Shoppe assesses after the shop closes to use the store software. The amount of this 5.00% fee is unknown at this time 
but we are approximating a maximum of $200.00 for the fee. The holiday apparel program cost was approximately 
$1,800 and the 5.00% fee was approximately $86.00. Additionally, the employees will not be required to pay for the 
items when they order them. Rather, after the items are delivered, the cost for the items will be collected from the 
employees via a payroll deduction, and Oshtemo Charter Township will pay the invoice to Spirit Shoppe. The ultimate 
cost to the Township will only be the 5.00% store fee.   
 
Core Values 
Professionalism 

 
     

8



9



MEMORANDUM 

Date: May 22, 2024 
To: Township Board 
From: James Porter 

��\J lut,/ 

�Oshtemo 
/""'�r, n.\\''- CHARTER TOWNSHIP 

/' 1/1 \ \ · Established 1839 • 

Subject: Faraday © nse Corporation - Faraday Properties LLC IFT Exemption Certificate 

I have submitted Faraday Defense Corporation/Faraday Properties LLC Industrial Facilities Tax Exemption 

Certificate Application to the Assessor, Planning Director and the Township Treasures Office. No concerns were 

raised. 

The proposed IFT will result in a 50% reduction of real and personal property taxes. I project the annual reduction 

in taxes to be approximately $155,250.00. I do not believe that this will jeopardize the Township's financial 

position. Because this facility is new construction, an alternative way of viewing this is that our tax revenues will 

increase by $155,250.00. The Township's reduced revenue will be approximately $9,281.00.

The Township's Special Assessment Districts will collect approximately $23,625.00 for Fire and approximately 

$6,075.00 for Police annually. 

In addition, the assessed Sewer Connection Tabulation provided by the Public Works Department, attached hereto, 

totals $66,688.50. 

Township Allorney's Office 
7275 W. Main Street 

Kalamazoo, Ml 49009 

(269) 375-7195

10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



 

Memorandum 
Date: May 23, 2024 

To: Township Board 

From: Anna Horner, P.E., Public Works Director 
 
Subject:          S 2nd St Special Assessment District   

 
 

 
Objective 
Board approval to set the assessment roll for the S 2nd Street Paving Project SAD.  
 
MOTION: I make the motion to approve the Resolution for the S 2nd St Special Assessment Roll. 
 
Background 
The residents of 2nd St between KL Ave and L Ave have initiated a Special Assessment project under Public Act 188 
and Oshtemo Township Road Assessment Policy for road improvements. 56% of property owners along the road 
frontage for this project signed the petition for improvements. The terms previously approved by the Board for this 
assessment include a 6-year duration with an interest rate of 2.625% and will remain at a fixed rate. 
 
The costs are based on engineers’ estimate of quantities and costs and the final quantities will be based on as-built 
construction. The final completion date is August 2, 2024, and the final cost will be provided by the Road Commission 
prior to October when winter tax bills are generated. Typically, the final costs do come under the estimate, however 
there is always the possibility of an increase for a particular item. Final costs will be allocated to the Township and 
residents accordingly and reflected in the final assessments to the residents.  
 
Information Provided 
Resolution 
 
Core Values 
Public Service, Sustainability, Professionalism, Integrity, Fiscal Stewardship 

25



26



27



28



29



 

Memorandum 
Date: May 23, 2024 

To: Township Board 

From: Sierra Lucas, Paralegal – Legal Department 
 

  Subject:         Housing Code Ordinance 
   

 
 

 
Objective 
 
In an effort to enhance the quality of housing within the Township and ensure the safety and well-being of residents, the 
Township would like to implement a new Housing Code Ordinance aimed at regulating rental properties, hotels, motels, 
and similar accommodations. 
 
Background 
 
This ordinance is designed to: 

1. Establish minimum standards for rental properties, hotels, motels, and similar establishments to ensure the 
provision of safe and habitable living conditions for residents and guests. 

2. Require regular inspections of rental properties and hospitality establishments to ensure compliance with 
health, safety, and building code regulations. 

3. Address issues such as overcrowding, inadequate facilities, and maintenance deficiencies that may pose risks 
to occupants' health and safety. 

4. Prevent the deterioration of neighborhoods and the spread of blight by enforcing maintenance standards for 
rental properties and hospitality establishments. 

5. Promote the overall well-being of the community by preserving the integrity and livability of residential areas. 
 
 
Information Provided 
 
Please see the attached draft of the proposed Housing Code Ordinance for your review. 
 
Core Values 
 
Public Service 
 

30



DRAFT OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

Adopted: 

Effective: 

 
THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
ORDAINS: 

 

OSTHEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP HOUSING CODE 

 

SECTION 1    TITLE AND PURPOSE: 

A. Title. This ordinance shall be known and may be cited as the "Housing Code of Oshtemo Charter 
Township." 

B. Purpose. The general purpose of this ordinance is to protect the public health, safety and the general welfare 
of the people of the Township. These general objectives include, among others, the following specific 
purposes: 

(1) To protect the character and stability of residential areas within the Township. 

(2) To provide minimum standards for kitchen, heating and sanitary facilities necessary to the health and safety 
of occupants of buildings. 

(3) To provide standards for light and ventilation necessary to health and safety. 

(4) To prevent additions or alterations to existing dwellings that would be injurious to the life, health, safety or 
general welfare of the occupants of such dwellings or neighboring properties. 

(5) To prevent the overcrowding of dwellings by providing minimum space standards per occupant of each 
dwelling unit. 

(6) To provide minimum standards for the maintenance of existing residential buildings and thus to prevent the 
spread of slums and blight. 

(7) To preserve the taxable value of lands and buildings throughout the Township. 

C. Unless otherwise expressly modified or deleted by this ordinance, if a conflict occurs between a provision 
of this ordinance and a provision of any national or published ordinance adopted by the Township, the 
provisions of the national and published ordinance shall control. 

SECTION 2  DEFINITIONS: 

A. Usage. 

(1) Scope. Unless otherwise expressly stated, the following terms shall, for the purposes of this Housing Code, 

have the meanings shown in this ordinance. 

31



(2) Interchangeability. Words stated in the present tense include the future; words stated in the masculine 

gender include the feminine and neuter; the singular number includes the plural and the plural the singular. 

(3) Terms defined in other codes. Where terms are not defined in this code and are defined in the International 

Property Maintenance Code, building, fire prevention, zoning, plumbing or mechanical codes, ASME A17.1 

and NFPA 70, such terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them as in those codes. 

(4) Terms not defined. Where terms are not defined, through the methods authorized by this section, such 

terms shall have ordinarily accepted meanings such as the context implies. 

(5) Parts. Whenever the words "dwelling unit," "dwelling," "premises," "building," "rooming house," "rooming 

unit," or "story" are stated in this code, they shall be construed as though they were followed by the words "or 

any part thereof." 

B. Terms defined. As used in this chapter, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated: 

ACCESSORY BUILDING: Any building or structure, not used as a dwelling, which is located on the same 

premises as a dwelling. 

AGENT (RESPONSIBLE LOCAL): See § 17. 

APPROVED: Determined by the Township to be in compliance with this ordinance. 

BASEMENT: A portion of a building located entirely underground or partly underground (having more than 

1/2 its clear floor-to-ceiling height below the average grade of the adjoining ground). 

BASIC STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS: The parts of a building which provide the principal strength, stability, 

integrity, shape and safety, including, but not limited to, plates, studs, joists, rafters, stringers, stairs, 

subflooring, flooring, sheathing, lathing, roofing, siding, window frames, door frames, porches, railings, eaves, 

chimneys, flashing, masonry, and all other essential components. 

BED-AND-BREAKFAST INN: An establishment located within a detached house that is the principal 

residence of the operator (or his/her designee), where short-term lodging is offered for compensation and that 

includes the service of one or more meals to guests. 

BEDROOM: Any room or space used or intended to be used for sleeping purposes. 

BOARD or BOARD OF APPEALS: The Building Board of Appeals established in § 5 of the Construction 

Code Ordinance No. 530, compiled § 274.00 

BUILDING OFFICIAL: The individual, including authorized representatives, as defined in the State 

Construction Code. 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE: A document issued by the enforcing agency which states that the listed 

property is in substantial compliance with the requirements of this ordinance. 

COMMON AREAS: Those interior and exterior areas normally accessible to all occupants, such as, but not 

limited to, hallways, stairs, and yards. "Common areas" do not include dwelling units, exterior or interior areas 

assigned to specific occupants, such as assigned storage or parking places, or such places as offices or areas 

from which occupants are generally excluded. 

CONDEMNED: Unfit for occupancy. 

32



DETERIORATE: To decay, decompose, or degenerate. 

DETERIORATION or DETERIORATED: The fact or process of decay, infestation, rotting, corrosion, 

decomposition, weakening, or degeneration which has progressed to the point where it has resulted in or will 

soon result in making an object or mechanism unsafe, unsanitary, inoperable, unusable, or unsuitable for its 

intended use, including, but not limited to, the advanced stage of rot, rust, mold, insect ingestion, infestation, 

or destruction. 

DUPLEX: A building with two dwelling units. 

DWELLING: Any building which is wholly or partly used or intended to be used for living by human 

occupants. 

DWELLING UNIT: A single unit providing complete, independent living facilities for one or more persons, 

including permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking and sanitation. 

EGRESS: Egress is what an exit provides. A means of egress consists of three separate and distinct parts: the 

exit access (portion that leads from any occupied point in a building or structure to an exit), the exit (defined 

below) and the exit discharge (portion between the termination of an exit and a public way). 

EXIT: That portion of a means of egress system separated from other interior spaces of a building or structure 

by fire-resistance-rated construction and opening protectives as required to provide a protected path of egress 

travel between the exit access and the exit discharge. Exits include exterior exit doors at ground level, exit 

enclosures, exit passageways, exterior exit stairs, exterior exit ramps and horizontal exits. 

FAMILY: See Oshtemo Charter Township’s Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 2 (Construction of Language and 

Definitions). Any person seeking the rights and privileges afforded a member of a family by this ordinance 

shall have the burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence of his or her family relationship. 

GARBAGE: The animal and vegetable waste resulting from the handling, preparation, cooking, and 

consumption of food, including cans, containers, and wrappings wasted therewith. 

GARBAGE CONTAINER: 

(1) A watertight container that is constructed of durable material impervious to rodents that is capable of being 

serviced without creating unsanitary conditions. Containers shall have tight-fitting covers or lids; or 

(2) A receptacle designed to be transported by or mechanically emptied into a refuse collection vehicle, and 

does not include receptacles used in office buildings, businesses, and single-family dwellings which are less 

than twenty-gallon capacity. 

GOOD REPAIR: To be properly installed, stable, and maintained sufficiently free of defects or deterioration 

so as to be functional for its present use and to be safe and sanitary. 

GOOD WORKMANSHIP: Completing a task of construction, repair, replacement, alteration or maintenance 

to industry standards using like materials so that the result is free of defects, operates as intended, creates no 

unsafe conditions and is executed in a skilled manner to be generally plumb, level, square, in line, undamaged 

and without marring adjacent work. Proof of structural soundness may be required from the property owner. 

Evidence shall be submitted by a licensed architect or engineer or other appropriate licensed professional. 

33



HABITABLE AREA: All areas within a dwelling unit used for living, sleeping, cooking or eating, excluding: 

(1) Bathrooms and/or toilet compartments. 

(2) Foyers, hallways and connecting corridors too small to be used for any other purpose than as foyers and 

connecting corridors. 

(3) Stairways. 

(4) Closets and storage space used as such or too small to be used for anything else. 

(5) Three-season porches. 

HISTORIC: Buildings that are listed in or eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places, or 

designated as historic under an appropriate state or local law. 

HOTEL/MOTEL: Any establishment that does not meet the definition of "bed-and-breakfast" where short-

term lodging is offered for compensation. 

LOFT APARTMENT: A dwelling unit located in the upper stories of a mercantile, warehouse, or factory, 

usually not partitioned off into rooms. If partitions are installed, they are not required to extend to the ceiling or 

contain doors (in order to allow borrowing light and ventilation from adjacent areas). 

MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT: Includes heating equipment, water heaters, and other items specifically 

covered by the Michigan Building Code. 

MINOR VIOLATIONS: Violations which do not pose an immediate or near term threat to the physical health 

or safety of the occupant(s) or public. They include, but are not limited to, such items as worn or torn 

carpeting, holes in interior wall or ceiling surfaces, loose hinges or door knobs, checked window glazing, low 

heat in one room or area, dripping faucets, absence of street address numerals, minor peeling exterior paint, 

etc. 

MOBILE HOME: A structure, transportable in one or more sections, which is built on a chassis and is 

designed to be used as a dwelling with or without permanent foundation, when connected to the required 

utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating, air conditioning, and electrical systems contained in the structure. 

Any mobile home occupied by someone other than its owner shall be subject to the required rental registration 

and certification requirements of this ordinance. 

MULTIPLE DWELLING: A residential building containing three or more dwelling units arranged either side 

by side or one above the other (also "apartment," "townhouse," and "garden apartment"). Such term shall also 

mean any building containing: 

(1) Two or more dwelling units and one or more commercial occupants; or 

(2) Two or more commercial occupants and one or more dwelling units. 

NUISANCE: 

(1) Any public nuisance known at common law or equity. 

(2) Any condition which might attract and be dangerous to the public, whether in a dwelling, on the premises 

upon which a dwelling is located or upon an unoccupied lot near a dwelling. This includes, but is not limited 

to, abandoned wells, cisterns, shafts, basements, excavations, structurally unsound fences, outbuildings or 

34



structures, lumber, vegetation, mounds of gravel, sand or earth which might prove a hazard for the public and 

whatever is dangerous to human life or is detrimental to health. 

(3) Overcrowding a room with occupants. 

(4) Lack of adequate egress. 

(5) Insufficient ventilation or illumination. 

(6) Inadequate or unsanitary sewage or plumbing facilities. 

(7) Improper disposal of garbage, rubbish, refuse, and/or trash. 

(8) Whatever renders air, food, or drink unwholesome or detrimental to health as determined by the health 

officer. 

(9) Insufficient support, inadequate sewerage, drainage, heating, or wiring. 

(10) Any violation of the provisions of this chapter relating to the aforesaid declared nuisances. 

OCCUPANT: Any person who regularly lives, sleeps, cooks, eats, or has actual legal possession of a dwelling 

unit or rooming unit. An occupant may be a person other than one who has a leasehold or other legal 

possessory interest in a dwelling unit or rooming unit. 

ONE-FAMILY DWELLING: A residential building containing a dwelling unit for occupancy by only one 

family. 

OWNER: 

(1) Any person who, alone or jointly or severally with others: 

(a) Shall have the legal or equitable title to a dwelling with or without the accompanying actual possession 

thereof; and/or 

(b) Shall be the land contract purchaser of any premises or dwelling; or 

(c) Shall have the charge, care, custody, possession, or control of any dwelling as owner or agent of the owner 

or as fiduciary. 

(2) A housing cooperative or condominium, whether it is a partnership, corporation, or any type of association, 

shall be considered an owner of the buildings, grounds, and dwelling units which are part of the cooperative or 

condominium. 

PLUMBING: Includes all of the following supplied facilities and equipment: water pipes, garbage disposal 

units, waste pipes, toilets, sinks, installed dishwashers, lavatories, bathtubs, shower baths, installed clothes-

washing machines, catch basins, drains, vents, and any other supplied fixtures, together with all connections to 

water and sewer lines. 

PREMISES: Any improved or unimproved lot or parcel of land and the buildings thereon. 

REFUSE: Any waste product which is not water-carried and which is composed wholly or partly of such 

materials as garbage, rubbish, sweepings, industrial solid wastes, or domestic solid wastes, organic wastes or 

such other substances as may become a nuisance. 

RENT: Compensation or return of value given periodically, or for a set period of time, in exchange for the 

right of possession of a dwelling or dwelling unit. 

35



RENTAL UNIT: Any dwelling unit rented or leased or any dwelling occupied as a home or family unit 

containing certain rooms in excess of those occupied by members of the immediate family and occupied as a 

home or family unit which is leased or rented to one or more persons outside the family. Dwelling units in a 

housing cooperative or condominium shall be considered rental units for purposes of this section, if they are 

rented. 

ROOMING HOUSE, BOARDINGHOUSE, or LODGING HOUSE: Any dwelling, or that part of any 

dwelling or dwelling unit, containing one or more rooming units in which space is let primarily for sleeping 

purposes, with or without meals, by the owner or agent to persons who are not related to the owner or operator 

by blood, marriage, or adoption. (Rooming house occupancy limits will vary by zoning district.) 

ROOMING UNIT or SLEEPING ROOM(S): Any room or group of rooms forming a single habitable unit or 

intended to be used for living and sleeping but not for cooking or eating purposes. 

RUBBISH: Any combustible or noncombustible waste materials, except garbage, including, but not restricted 

to, paper, rags, cartons, boxes, wood, excelsior, rubber, leather, plastics, tree branches, yard trimmings, tin 

cans, metals, automotive parts, mineral matter, glass, crockery, duct and the residue from the burning of 

combustible materials. 

STRUCTURALLY SOUND: That all basic structural elements (see definition) shall provide strength, stability, 

integrity, shape, and safety. Proof of structural soundness may be required from the property owner. Evidence 

shall be submitted by a licensed architect or engineer. 

SUBSTANTIAL VIOLATIONS: Violations which pose an immediate or near-term threat to the physical 

health or safety of the occupant(s) or public. They include but are not limited to such items as lack of dwelling 

unit heat or water, broken/leaking/plugged sanitary sewer or drains, improper or inadequate venting of fossil-

fuel-burning appliances, loose or missing stair treads or rails, foundation walls in danger of collapse, lack of 

required functioning smoke alarms, blocked or unsafe exit paths, etc. 

SUPPLIED: Paid for, furnished, or provided by or under the control of the owner. 

TENANT: A person, corporation, partnership or group, whether or not the legal owner of record, occupying a 

building or portion thereof as a unit. 

TWO-FAMILY DWELLING: A residential building containing two dwelling units, each intended for 

occupancy by only one family. 

UNFIT FOR HUMAN HABITATION: Any dwelling or dwelling unit which, because of its condition or the 

condition of the lot upon which the dwelling or dwelling unit stands or any accessory structure thereof is 

dangerous to life, safety, or the general welfare of the occupants or of the public, shall be deemed unfit for 

human habitation. A dwelling or dwelling unit deemed unfit for human occupancy shall be condemned until 

such condition(s) is remedied. 

 

SECTION 3  SERVICE OF NOTICES OR ORDERS UNDER ORDINANCE: 

36



Unless otherwise provided for the purpose of this ordinance, a person is considered to have received a notice or 

order on the date it was personally served or the date the notice or order is mailed, certified or first-class 

postage prepaid, to him or her at the last known address according to Township records. 
 

SECTION 4  COMPLIANCE WITH ORDINANCE GENERALLY: 

No person shall occupy, rent, lease or permit any occupancy of any dwelling or dwelling unit unless it 
substantially complies with all applicable provisions of this ordinance. Occupancy of any dwelling unit 
regulated by this ordinance shall create a rebuttable presumption that such occupancy has occurred with the 
express and/or implied consent of the owner. The provisions of the Michigan Building Code, also known as 
the Stille-DeRossett-Hale Single State Construction Code Act, which is Public Act 230 of 1972, as amended 
(MCLA § 125.1501 et seq.), and rules promulgated pursuant to that statute, supersede any contrary provision 
of this ordinance for residential dwelling units constructed in compliance with the then-current provisions of 
that statute. 

SECTION 5  TEMPORARY DWELLING TO COMPLY WITH ORDINANCE: 

It shall be unlawful for any person to erect or occupy any structure which is intended to be occupied, in whole 
or in part, as a temporary dwelling unless it complies with all provisions of this ordinance. 

SECTION 6  APPLICATION OF ORDINANCE TO HOTELS AND MOTELS: 

Every provision of this ordinance which applies to rooming houses shall also apply to hotels and motels except 
to the extent that any such provision is found in conflict with the laws of the state or with the lawful 
regulations of any state board or agency. 

SECTION 7  OCCUPANCY OF MOBILE HOMES AS DWELLINGS: 

No house trailer or mobile home, whether mobile or not, shall be occupied as a dwelling within the Township 
unless in compliance with the Township Zoning Ordinance or legally established in mobile home 
communities. 

SECTION 8  AUTHORITY TO CONDEMN AND PROCEDURES; PERSONS NOT TO 
OCCUPY OR BE PRESENT IN DWELLINGS THAT ARE CONDEMNED OR THAT CONSTITUTE A 
NUISANCE: 

A. The Township shall have the authority to condemn any dwelling that is unfit for human habitation or 
occupancy and constitutes a nuisance as defined in § 2 or any other applicable code. Upon a determination that 
a nuisance exists, the Township may order the prompt vacation of the dwelling by posting a notice of 
condemnation at a conspicuous location on the property and by mailing written notice to the owner of record. 
The Township shall also have the authority to immediately board up or otherwise secure an unoccupied 
condemned dwelling if it is open to casual entry. Further, the Township may require the owner to place a 
condemnation notice on the inside portion of a first floor window facing the street. No person shall remove or 
cause to be removed any condemnation notice without permission of the Township. 

B. No person shall occupy or be present in a dwelling, dwelling unit, or the premises, if it is condemned or if it 
constitutes a nuisance as defined in § 2. Occupancy of any such dwelling or dwelling unit creates a rebuttable 
presumption that the occupancy has occurred with the permission of the owner. However, at reasonable times 
between 8:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m., the owner, owner's agent or tenant may be present for the purposes of 
making repairs or removing personal property from the dwelling or premises. 

C. Any person in violation of any provisions of this section shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor. 

37



SECTION 9 ABATEMENT OF RENT IN CASE OF DWELLING UNIT FOR HUMAN 
HABITATION: 

If any portion of a building constructed as, or altered into, a dwelling is occupied for human habitation in 
violation of this ordinance and has been deemed by the Township as unfit for human habitation, the owner, 
owner's agent or lessor shall not, during the period of unlawful occupation, accept, retain or recover rent or 
maintain any action or special proceedings for possession of the premises for nonpayment of rent. The 
Township may declare the premises unfit for human habitation and proceed to condemn the dwelling and order 
its vacation under § 8. 

SECTION 10 REFERENCE TO CODES: 

The terms "Building Code," "Electrical Code," "Mechanical Code," and "Plumbing Code," as used in this 
ordinance or notices issued pursuant to this ordinance, refer to those respective codes enforced by the 
Township pursuant to Township Ordinance No. 530. The word "code" when not used in any of the foregoing 
contexts but used in this ordinance or in a notice issued pursuant to this ordinance, refers to this ordinance. 
"IPMC" refers to the most recent published edition of the International Property Maintenance Code. 

SECTION 11 REMOVING OR DISCONNECTION OF REQUIRED SERVICES, FACILITIES, 
EQUIPMENT OR UTILITIES: 

No person shall cause any utility which is required under this ordinance or state law to be removed or shut off 
from or disconnected from any occupied dwelling let or occupied by him, except for such temporary 
interruption as may be necessary while actual repairs or alterations are in process, or during temporary 
emergencies where discontinuance of service is approved by the Township. The requirements of § 22 of the 
Township Ordinances shall not apply to § 11. 

SECTION 12  INSPECTIONS TO ENFORCE ORDINANCE – GENERALLY: 

For purposes of enforcement and administration of the Housing Code, the following shall apply: 

A. The Township shall make inspections for the enforcement of this ordinance. Such inspections are based on 
a legislative reaffirmation by the Township that the most effective way to obtain compliance with the minimum 
requirements of this ordinance is through routine periodic inspections of all premises regulated by this 
ordinance, including hotels, motels, bed-and-breakfast inns, residential cooperatives, residential collectives, 
rooming houses, and all rental housing as mandated by Michigan law. These inspections may be supplemented 
as needed with inspections undertaken on the basis of one or more of the provisions found elsewhere in this 
ordinance.

B. Subject to the provisions of § 12, the Building Official, or any inspectors working under the Building 
Official's authority, may request permission to enter all premises regulated by this chapter, at reasonable hours, 
to undertake an inspection. Upon an emergency, as defined under rules promulgated by the Township, the 
inspector or team of inspectors shall have the right to enter at any time. Unless otherwise provided in this 
ordinance, or by a policy or an administrative rule, such inspections shall include a thorough examination of all 
parts of such rental units and the premises connected therewith, including all common areas and all dwelling 
units, for any violation of the applicable regulations which could affect the health, safety and welfare of any 
occupant or use of the premises, regardless of whether such dwelling units are rental units as defined by this 
ordinance. The Building Official or any other inspector is also empowered to make an inspection of any 
portion of any premises regulated by this ordinance when there is probable cause to suspect that there is a 
violation of this ordinance at the premises in question. Such inspections may be accomplished by a search 
warrant as provided for by this ordinance and state law, by access voluntarily provided by the owner or 
responsible local agent to unoccupied units and common areas, or by access voluntarily provided by a resident 
of a dwelling unit occupied by that resident.

38



C. The Township may promulgate rules governing the length of certificates of compliance, the number of units 
inspected in multiple dwellings or multiple-dwelling complexes, and under what circumstances inspections are 
waived. The initial rules shall take effect upon endorsement by resolution of the Township Board.  

D. The Township shall have the authority under this ordinance to obtain a search warrant to perform any 
inspection authorized by this ordinance or by state law. Such a search warrant is considered an administrative 
search warrant and shall permit an inspection to go forward only for purposes authorized by this ordinance and 
state law. The Township may also request an administrative search warrant when the premises in question have 
not been inspected within the time period prescribed by ordinance, by administrative policy, or by rule, or 
when the premises have not previously been certified or no longer have a current certificate of compliance. 

E. In addition to the inspections required by § 12B, an inspection may be authorized on one or more of the 
following bases: 

(1) An area basis, such that all the regulated premises in a predetermined geographical area will be inspected 
simultaneously or within a short period of time. 

(2) A complaint basis, such that complaints of violations will be inspected within a reasonable time. 

(3) A recurrent violation basis, such that those premises which are found to have a high incidence of recurrent 
or uncorrected violations will be inspected more frequently. 

F. Inspections under this section shall be carried out by the Township and may include such representatives of 
other agencies as may form an inspection team to undertake an inspection under this ordinance and other 
applicable ordinances. 

G. In a nonemergency situation in which the owner or occupant demands a search warrant, the Township shall 
obtain a warrant from a court of competent jurisdiction. The occupant shall have the exclusive right to demand 
a search warrant for an inspection of any dwelling unit. The warrant shall state the address of the building to be 
inspected, the nature of the inspection, as defined in this ordinance or other applicable ordinances, and the 
reasons for the inspection. It shall be appropriate and sufficient to set forth the basis for inspection (e.g., 
mandatory periodic inspection, complaint, area or recurrent violation basis) established in this section, in other 
applicable statutes or ordinances or in rules or regulations. The warrant shall also state that it is issued pursuant 
to authority granted by this ordinance and by the authority of § 127 of Public Act 167 of 1917, as amended 
(MCLA § 125.527), and that it is for the purposes set forth for the inspection of rental property by state statutes 
and Township ordinances. The owner and/or responsible local agent shall be responsible for providing access 
whenever a search warrant is issued pursuant to the provisions of this ordinance. 

H. The Township may establish and charge a reasonable fee for inspections conducted under this ordinance. 
All such fees shall be approved by a resolution adopted by the Township Board. 

SECTION 12.1  SYSTEMATIC INSPECTION PROCEDURES: 

A. It is the policy of the Township that its staff will work cooperatively with landlords, tenants, neighborhood 
associations and other interested groups and individuals to help ensure safe, decent and sanitary rental housing 
through the systematic inspection of rental properties pursuant to the requirements prescribed by this 
ordinance. 

B. The owner and/or responsible local agent shall contact the Township to schedule the systematic inspection 
in a timely manner such that the certificate of compliance can be issued prior the expiration of the then-current 
certificate of compliance. 

C. It shall be the responsibility of the owner and/or responsible local agent to contact the Township to schedule 
the systematic inspection required by this ordinance. 

39



D. Once a date for an inspection is scheduled, the owner and/or responsible local agent shall do all of the 
following prior to the date of the scheduled inspection: 

(1) Inform the tenant or occupant of each dwelling unit scheduled for possible inspection of the date when the 
inspection is scheduled to occur. 

(2) Request permission from the tenant or occupant of each dwelling unit scheduled for possible inspection to 
enter the rental unit in the event that the tenant or occupant is not at home when the inspector arrives. 

(3) Inform the tenant or occupant of each dwelling unit scheduled for possible inspection that the owner or the 
owner's representative is required to accompany the inspector during the performance of all inspections of 
rental dwelling units, and that the owner or the owner's representative must provide access to the inspector by 
unlocking the dwelling unit's door in the event that the tenant is not at home. 

E. In all cases where a tenant or occupant has informed the owner or responsible local agent, either orally or in 
writing, that the inspector may have access to the dwelling unit, the owner shall provide access to the dwelling 
unit in question for purposes of conducting the inspection required by this ordinance. 

F. If a tenant who has consented to the inspection informs the owner or responsible local agent that he or she 
would like to be present during the inspection, but that the time scheduled for the inspection is not convenient, 
the owner or responsible local agent shall inform the Township of the tenant's desire to be present when the 
inspection occurs. The Township shall make a reasonable effort to comply with the tenant's request. If the 
Township, owner, and tenant cannot schedule a mutually convenient time for the inspection, the Township 
shall have the discretion to seek a search warrant to inspect that dwelling unit pursuant to authority granted by 
this ordinance and state law. 

G. If a tenant or occupant of a unit scheduled for possible inspection informs the owner or responsible local 
agent that he or she will demand that the Township obtain a search warrant, the owner or responsible local 
agent shall inform the tenant that the owner or responsible local agent is required by Township ordinance to 
accompany the inspector during the execution of a search warrant, and is required to provide access to any 
dwelling unit when a proper search warrant has been issued by a court of competent jurisdiction. If a search 
warrant is issued at the request of a tenant, the Township shall make a reasonable effort to inform the tenant of 
the date of execution of the search warrant. 

H. In all cases where a court of competent jurisdiction has entered a search warrant authorizing the inspection 
of a particular dwelling pursuant to MCLA § 125.527 and the provisions of this ordinance, the owner or 
responsible local agent shall accompany the inspector during the execution of the search warrant and 
inspection of the named dwelling units, and shall provide access to each dwelling unit described in that search 
warrant. 

I. The Township may require the owner of a leasehold to do one or more of the following: 

(1) Provide the Township access to the leasehold if the lease provides the owner a right of entry. 

(2) Provide access to areas other than a leasehold or areas open to public view, or both. 

(3) Provide access to the leasehold if a tenant of that leasehold has made a complaint to the Township. 

J. Neither the Township nor the owner may discriminate against an occupant on the basis of whether the 
occupant requests, permits, or refuses entry to the leasehold. An owner of a multiple dwelling shall not 
discriminate against any person whose dwelling unit is randomly selected for inspection by the Township, nor 
shall any owner bill the cost of the inspection to tenants or other occupants of a property which is inspected 
under the provisions of this ordinance. 

40



K. The Township shall not discriminate against an owner who has met the requirements of Subsection I but 
has been unable to obtain the permission of the tenant or occupant, based on the owner's inability to obtain the 
permission. 

SECTION 13  RESERVED 

SECTION 14  FEES FOR ACTIONS TAKEN UNDER CHAPTER 17:  
 
A. The Township Board may, by resolution, establish reasonable fees for covering the costs of actions taken 
under this ordinance.  

B. The Township shall provide a written invoice of the fees to the owner of the property against which action 

was taken by the Township. Payment is due within 30 days from the date of the invoice. If the invoice is not 

paid, the Township shall notify the Township Assessor's Office, who will assess the unpaid amount against that 

property. The Township may enforce the lien by placing the unpaid amount on the next tax roll of the 

Township, the collection of which is enforceable in the same manner as delinquent taxes. 

C. The Township also has the option to file a complaint in the appropriate court in Kalamazoo County to 

recoup any unpaid balance owing on the invoice. Interest shall accrue as provided for delinquent taxes and 

judgments by law. 

SECTION 15  REGISTRATION OF HOTELS, RENTAL DWELLINGS, RESIDENTIAL 
COLLECTIVES, RESIDENTIAL COOPERATIVES, BED AND BREAKFAST INNS, AND ROOMING 
HOUSES:  

The owner of any hotel, any rental dwelling, or of any residential collective, residential cooperative, bed-and-

breakfast inn, or rooming house, shall register it with the Township and shall designate a person, as defined in 

§ 17, as the responsible local agent who shall be legally responsible for compliance with the Township 

ordinance and shall also be responsible for providing access to such property for the purpose of making the 

inspections necessary to ensure such compliance in conformance with applicable provisions of this ordinance 

and state law. 

SECTION 16  REGISTRATION FORMS: 

An application for registration shall be made in such form and in accordance with such instructions as may be 

provided by the Township. No application for registration shall be valid unless it is filled out completely. If 

any information on a rental registration submitted to the Township about the owner or responsible local agent 

changes, it shall become invalid until a new registration form is submitted. 

SECTION 17  RESPONSIBLE LOCAL AGENT: 

41

http://www.elaws.us/subscriber/signin?returnurl=http://kalamazoo-mi.elaws.us/code/coor_ch17_arti_sec17-14


An owner of premises covered under this ordinance shall designate a responsible local agent as a party 

responsible for operating such premises in compliance with all the provisions of the Township Housing Code. 

The responsible local agent shall be a person or representative of a corporation, partnership, firm, joint venture, 

trust, association, organization or other entity having his/her place of residence in the County of Kalamazoo. 

All official notices of the Township may be served on the responsible local agent, and any notice so served is 

considered to have been served upon the owner of record. 

SECTION 18  TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP; TRANSFER OF NONCOMPLYING 

PROPERTIES: 

A. Upon any transfer of ownership, any registration issued under this ordinance shall become invalid. Any new 

owner shall comply with the provisions of §§ 15 and 16 and shall register the property within 10 days of the 

date of the transfer of ownership. The validity and expiration date of a certificate of compliance shall not be 

affected by a transfer of ownership. 

B. The Township will hold the purchaser of any hotel, rental dwelling, rooming house or other dwelling 

regulated by this chapter responsible for any compliance order issued for the property, even though such order 

may have been issued to the previous owner. Any new purchaser may obtain a copy of any outstanding 

compliance order at the Oshtemo Township Offices. Enforcement for failure to comply with any outstanding 

orders may be transferred to a new owner without additional notice. 

SECTION 19   CERTIFICATES OF COMPLIANCE FOR HOTELS, ROOMING HOUSES, 

MULTIPLE DWELLINGS, RENTAL DWELLINGS, AND RESIDENTIAL COLLECTIVES: 

A. No person shall operate, lease, rent, occupy, or allow occupancy of a hotel, including a bed-and-breakfast 

inn, rooming house, multiple dwelling, residential cooperative, residential collective or any rental dwelling, 

including single-family homes and duplexes, unless there is a valid certificate of compliance issued by the 

Township in the name of the agent and issued for the specific hotel, rooming house, multiple dwelling, 

residential cooperative, residential collective or rental dwelling. The certificate of compliance shall be 

displayed in a conspicuous place in each hotel, rooming house, and bed-and-breakfast inn at all times. The 

certificate shall be issued in conformance with such rules as the Township shall promulgate after registration 

with the Township and following inspection and shall state that the property is in compliance with the 

provisions of the Township Housing Code and state law. 

B. The Township shall not issue a certificate of compliance unless a current registration is in effect, the 

responsible local agent is properly designated, and an inspection, as required elsewhere in this ordinance, has 

42



determined that the premises satisfies the minimum standards and other provisions of the Township 

ordinances. 

SECTION 20  REVOCATION OR DENIAL OF CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE: 

A. Whenever the Township finds that the operator of any rental dwelling, rooming house, bed-and-breakfast 

inn, residential collective, or hotel has failed to comply with a notice of violation issued pursuant to § 22 of 

this ordinance, the certificate of compliance may be revoked. 

B. No person whose registration to rent or lease a dwelling regulated by this ordinance has been denied or 

whose certificate of compliance has been revoked shall permit occupancy of the premises until the Township 

has approved the registration of the dwelling and issued a certificate of compliance. 

C. Upon revocation of a certificate of compliance or a determination by the Township that any dwelling unit or 

structure regulated by this ordinance is unfit for human habitation, the owner or operator of such unit or 

structure shall immediately take appropriate legal action to vacate the premises, including eviction 

proceedings. No person shall thereafter occupy the dwelling unit or structure for sleeping or living purposes 

until the Township determines it complies with this ordinance. All vacant buildings shall remain closed to 

casual entry. 

SECTION 21  CIVIL REMEDIES FOR VIOLATIONS: 

A. The Township may institute an action in the circuit court to prevent, restrain, correct or abate, without 

limitation, any one of the following violations or unlawful acts: 

(1) The construction, alteration, conversion or maintenance of a dwelling, including accessory structure, 

contrary to this ordinance or an order or notice given by the Township. 

(2) When the violation or act is considered to have created a nuisance. 

(3) Under circumstances where the health, safety and welfare of any occupant on the premises or any nearby 

structure is at risk. 

B. The procedure for such action shall be the same as for any injunction or abatement of a nuisance under 

Michigan court rules, statutes or the common law. The remedies the Township may seek in the judgment or 

order entered by the court include without limitation: 

(1) Direct the correction, repair or rehabilitation of the dwelling or building. 

43



(2) Abate the nuisance. 

(3) Prevent the occupation of the dwelling, building or structure until the violation or nuisance is corrected or 

abated. 

(4) Enjoin or restrain the use, occupancy or action/omission that lead to the lawsuit from continuing until 

corrected, abated or ceased. 

(5) Authorize the Township to execute and carry out the provisions of the judgment or order in case of default 

by the defendant, including failure to comply within the reasonable time provided. 

C. Whenever the Township has incurred any expense for the enforcement of this ordinance or the judgment or 

order of the court, the Township may institute and maintain a suit against the owner of the premises to recover 

such expense in addition to the costs of suit. The Township shall have a lien upon the premises for the 

expenses necessarily incurred in the execution of any judgment or order entered by the court under above 

Subsections A and B. The lien shall have priority over all other liens or encumbrances, except taxes, 

assessments or mortgages recorded previous to the existence of such lien. The Township may enforce the lien 

in the same manner as delinquent real estate taxes or foreclosure of mortgages under state law. 

D. In any action instituted by the Township under this section, the Township Attorney shall file, in the office 

of the Register of Deeds of the County, a notice of the pendency of the action or proceeding. The filing of the 

notice may occur when the action or proceeding is commenced; before or after final judgment or order is 

entered; or at any time after the service of the notice is made upon a defendant. The notice shall have the same 

force and effect as a lis pendens under state law. The Register of Deeds shall record it and shall index it to the 

name of each person specified in directions prescribed by the Township Attorney. Any notice may be vacated 

upon the order of the judge of the court in which the action or proceeding was instituted or is pending, or upon 

written consent of the Township Attorney. Such vacated notice shall be filed with the Register of Deeds. 

SECTION 22  RESPONSIBILITY FOR VIOLATIONS; PROCEDURES: 

A. Any person who causes, permits, allows or maintains a condition on or in any premises in violation of a 

criminal provision of this ordinance shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor. A person who violates a section 

of this ordinance which provides for civil penalties shall be deemed responsible for a municipal civil 

infraction. Each week that a violation exists shall constitute a separate offense. 

B. Any person who causes, maintains, permits or allows a nuisance on or in any premises shall be deemed 

guilty of a misdemeanor, unless the condition is specifically deemed a civil violation. 

44



C. Whenever the Building Official determines that there has been a violation of any provision of this 

ordinance, or any adopted rule or regulation, the Township may give notice of the violation to the person 

responsible for it and order the correction of the violation. Such notice shall: 

(1) Be in writing. 

(2) Include a statement of the conditions that constitute violations of this ordinance. 

(3) Specify that a permit for the performance of the work necessary to correct such violations must be obtained 

if one is required by the Township Housing Code. 

(4) Notify the owner, agent or occupant, as the case may require, of the time within which the violation shall 

be corrected. If the work cannot be completed within the time specified or for any other reason, the owner may 

appeal to the Building Board of Appeals as set forth in Section 2 of this ordinance. 

(5) Be served upon the owner, agent or occupant as the case may require. Such notice is considered properly 

served upon an owner, agent or occupant if a copy of the notice is provided under any of the following: 

personally served; mailed certified or first class with prepaid postage to his/her last known address according 

to Township records; posted in a conspicuous place on the dwelling affected by the notice; or any other method 

authorized or required under the laws of this state. The time for performance shall commence on the date 

service was made, posted, mailed or otherwise authorized depending upon the method of service used. 

D. Whenever any inspector finds that a violation of this ordinance creates a situation that requires immediate 

action to protect the public health and safety, he/she shall bring the matter to the attention of the Building 

Official. If the Building Official agrees with the inspector, the Building Official shall, without notice or 

hearing, issue an order stating that an emergency exists and requiring that the person to whom such order is 

directed take immediate action as the Building Official considers necessary and appropriate to meet the 

emergency. Regardless of the other provisions of this ordinance to the contrary, such order is effective 

immediately. 

E. Prosecutions for criminal or civil violations of this ordinance may be commenced by issuing an appearance 

ticket or citation without prior notice. 

SECTION 23  MINIMUM FINES: 

A. For violations of this ordinance that are considered municipal civil infractions, the minimum fine for a first 

offense is $150. If the defendant is responsible for a second civil infraction regarding the same property as a 

prior violation, committed within two years of the prior violation, then the minimum fine is $250. 

45



B. For violations of this ordinance that are considered misdemeanors, the minimum fine for a first offense is 

$200. If the defendant is responsible for a misdemeanor offense regarding the same property as a prior offense, 

committed within two years of the prior offense, then the minimum fine is $300. 

C. Any person who commits a third or subsequent violation of this ordinance, all of which occur within three 

years, regardless whether a misdemeanor or civil infraction and regardless of the property addresses where the 

violations occurred, is considered a chronic offender and shall be assessed a minimum fine of $500, plus any 

additional sanctions under § 24. 

SECTION 24  PENALTIES: 

A. In addition to any fines required by § 23 the sentence for a person convicted of a violation of this ordinance 

which is designated as a misdemeanor may include a term of probation to correct any violation of this 

ordinance in existence at the time of the last inspection at the subject property or properties. For chronic 

offenders, the court shall place that person on probation. Any probation ordered shall continue until the subject 

property is in full compliance with all provisions of this ordinance and shall set a reasonable deadline 

considering appropriate circumstances for compliance. If the court finds by a preponderance of the evidence 

that the defendant has not complied with an order to repair the subject property, it shall order the defendant 

held in contempt and may order additional sanctions, including the sale of his or her interest in the subject 

property or properties under such terms and conditions as the court directs. 

B. In addition to any fine required by § 23, a judge or magistrate who finds a person responsible for a violation 

of this ordinance which is designated as a municipal civil infraction shall order that person to bring the subject 

property into full compliance with all provisions of this ordinance within a reasonable deadline under 

appropriate circumstances. If the court finds by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant has not 

complied with an order to repair the subject property, it shall order the defendant held in contempt and may 

order additional sanctions, including the sale of his or her interest in the subject property or properties under 

such terms and conditions as the court directs. 

SECTION 25  REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCE/SAVINGS CLAUSE: 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith, including any construction codes or 
construction code ordinances previously adopted by the Township, are hereby repealed and shall be of no 
further force or effect upon the effective date of this Ordinance; provided, however, that construction 
permits validly issued before the effective date of this Ordinance shall not be invalidated by this 
Ordinance and the construction may be completed in compliance with any such permits, or renewals 
thereof, and in compliance with any previous construction code under which the permits were issued. 

46



Further, any pending proceedings, including prosecutions for violations, or rights and liabilities acquired 
or incurred under any previous ordinance or construction code being repealed hereby, shall not be affected 
by this Ordinance and may be continued pursuant to said previous ordinances and codes. 

SECTION 26  EFFECTIVE DATE: 

This Ordinance shall take effect upon publication in accordance with Michigan law. 

 

47


	0 Publ Cmmt_Zoom_Values
	0  Zoom and Log in Information
	4 Core Values and Vision

	7.b Extension of Conditional Rezoning
	7.c Budget Amendments
	7th St W Main BA
	Employee Apparel Program Budget Amendment

	9. OFD Founder History
	10. Faraday IFT Exemption Cert
	11.2nd Street SAD
	mem 2024-05-23 [Board] 2nd St SAD
	Information Provided

	Res & MM re 2nd St SAD Assessment Roll 5.28.24

	12. Housing Ordinance
	Memo re Housing Code Ordinance
	Draft_Housing Code Ordinance
	SECTION 14  FEES FOR ACTIONS TAKEN UNDER CHAPTER 17:
	A. The Township Board may, by resolution, establish reasonable fees for covering the costs of actions taken under this ordinance.
	SECTION 15  REGISTRATION OF HOTELS, RENTAL DWELLINGS, RESIDENTIAL COLLECTIVES, RESIDENTIAL COOPERATIVES, BED AND BREAKFAST INNS, AND ROOMING HOUSES:





